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DECISION


The Missouri Real Estate Commission (“the MREC”) may discipline Carlos Ruan Cruz for conspiring to commit housing fraud. 
Procedure


The MREC filed a complaint on March 23, 2006.  On March 31, 2006, Cruz was served with notice of this case and a copy of the complaint by certified mail.  On May 19, 2006, the MREC filed a motion for summary determination.  On such a motion, we may decide this case without a hearing if the MREC establishes facts that entitle it to a favorable decision and Cruz raises no genuine issue as to such facts.
  We gave Cruz until June 12, 2006, to respond to the motion, but he did not respond.  Therefore, the following facts, established by the MREC’s affidavits, are undisputed.  

Findings of Fact

1. Cruz held a license as a real estate salesperson, which was current and active at all relevant times.
  
2. As a part of his real estate sales practice, from April 2001 through November of 2001, Cruz sought out illegal aliens to solicit for business.  Cruz referred the illegal aliens to a firm that assisted in procuring loans from the Federal Housing Administration (“FHA”) to finance real estate purchases from which Cruz intended to gain commissions.  Cruz knew that FHA loans were not available to illegal aliens, but he had a confederate who worked for the firm.  His confederate instructed the firm’s personnel to fill out applications with false social security numbers and residency credentials for the illegal aliens.  The lender filed 24 such applications for $1,457,339 in loans with the Federal Housing Agency.  
3. On July 18, 2005, Cruz entered a plea of guilty in the United States District Court for the District of Kansas to an information based on the facts in Finding 2.  The information charged conspiracy to defraud a federal housing program in violation of 18 USC § 371 with reference to 18 USC § 1010.  On October 17, 2005, the court found Cruz guilty and imposed on him a sentence that included a fine of $5,000 and 18 months of probation (“the conviction”).
Conclusions of Law

We have jurisdiction to decide the MREC’s complaint because Cruz has held a real estate salesperson license.
  The MREC has the burden of proving that Cruz committed conduct for 
which the law allows discipline.
  The MREC relies on the affidavits attached to its 
motion.  
I.  The Conviction
The MREC cites provisions of § 339.100.2 that allow discipline based on the nature of the offenses with which Cruz was charged.  Those offenses were 18 USC § 371:

If two or more persons conspire either to commit any offense against the United States, or to defraud the United States, or any agency thereof in any manner or for any purpose, and one or more of such persons do any act to effect the object of the conspiracy, each shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than five years, or both.
If, however, the offense, the commission of which is the object of the conspiracy, is a misdemeanor only, the punishment for such conspiracy shall not exceed the maximum punishment provided for such misdemeanor[;]
and 18 USC § 1010:

Whoever, for the purpose of obtaining any loan or advance of credit from any person, partnership, association, or corporation with the intent that such loan or advance of credit shall be offered to or accepted by the Department of Housing and Urban Development[
] for insurance, or for the purpose of obtaining any extension or renewal of any loan, advance of credit, or mortgage insured by such Department, or the acceptance, release, or substitution of any security on such a loan, advance of credit, or for the purpose of influencing in any way the action of such Department, makes, passes, utters, or publishes any statement, knowing the same to be false, or alters, forges, or counterfeits any instrument, paper, or document, or utters, publishes, or passes as true any instrument, paper, or document, knowing it to have been altered, forged, or counterfeited, or willfully overvalues any security, asset, or income, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than two years, or both.
The MREC’s certified court records establish Cruz’s conviction.

a.  Statutes Specifically Governing 
Real Property or Real Estate Business 
  
The MREC cites § 339.100.2(9), which allows discipline for:  

[h]aving been finally adjudicated and been found guilty of the violation of any . . . federal statute which governs the sale . . . of real property or the conduct of the real estate business[.]
(Emphasis added.)  Cruz has been found guilty under 18 USC § 371, which applies to any conspiracy to defraud the United States generally and does not specifically govern the sale of real property or the conduct of the real estate business.  On the other hand, 18 USC § 1010 specifically governs the sale of real property and the conduct of the real estate business, but Cruz was not found guilty of consummating his plan to violate that statute.  Therefore, Cruz is not subject to discipline under § 339.100.2(9).  
b.  More General Statutes
The MREC cites § 339.100.2(18), RSMo. Supp. 2005, which allows discipline if Cruz has:  

Been finally adjudicated and found guilty, or entered a plea of guilty . . . , in a criminal prosecution under the laws of . . . the United States, for any offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of [a real estate salesperson], for any offense an essential element of which is fraud [or] dishonesty . . . , or for any offense involving moral turpitude, whether or not sentence is imposed[.] 
That provision does not require a finding of guilt “of the violation of” any one statute, as 
§ 339.100.2 (9) discussed above does; it requires only proof of the proceedings “under” the statutes.    
A conspiracy to commit housing fraud under 18 USC §§ 371 and 1010 is reasonably related to the qualifications of a real estate salesperson because good moral character is a 
qualification for licensure.
  It is also related to the sale of real estate and “the procuring of prospects,” which are among the functions of a real estate salesperson.
  
An essential element of an offense is one that must be present to prove every case.
  Fraud is an intentional perversion of truth to induce another person to act in reliance upon it.
  Dishonesty includes actions that reflect adversely on trustworthiness.
  The plain language of both 18 USC §§ 371 and 1010 describes deceiving a government assistance program.  Fraud and dishonesty are essential elements of those offenses.  
Moral turpitude is: 

an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellowman or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty between man and man; everything “done contrary to justice, honesty, modesty, and good morals.”[
]  

We look for the involvement of moral turpitude in the general statutory definition of the offense rather than the specific manner in which Cruz violated it.
  Conspiracy to commit housing fraud under 18 USC §§ 371 and 1010 involves moral turpitude.  


Therefore, Cruz is subject to discipline under § 339.100.2(18), RSMo Supp. 2005.  
II.  The Conduct
The MREC also cites provisions of law that allow discipline based on the conspiracy of which Cruz was convicted.  It argues that the conspiracy to commit housing fraud is cause for discipline under § 339.100.2(2), which allows discipline for:  

[m]aking substantial misrepresentations or . . . suppression, concealment or omission of material facts in the conduct of [the] business or pursuing a flagrant and continued course of misrepresentation through agents, salespersons, advertising or otherwise in any transaction[.]

Misrepresentation is a falsehood or untruth made with the intent of deceit rather than inadvertent mistake.
  “Material” is “being of real importance or great consequence[;] substantial[;] essential[;] requiring serious consideration by reason of having a certain or probable bearing[.]”
  
The conviction establishes that Cruz committed the conduct described in 18 USC §§ 371 and 1010.  Cruz intentionally participated in the delivery of false information to the FHA precisely because such information was material to the FHA’s decisions.  
Cruz is subject to discipline under § 339.100.2(2).  
III.  Grounds for Refusal
The MREC argues that Cruz’s scheme is also cause for discipline under § 339.100.2(16), RSMo Supp. 2005,
 which allows discipline for:  
[c]ommitting any act which would otherwise be grounds for the [MREC] to refuse to issue a license under section 339.040[.]
In other words, the MREC argues that if Cruz were an applicant, it could refuse him a license under § 339.040.  We agree.  
The MREC cites § 339.040.1(1), which allows refusal to applicants unless they:

[a]re persons of good moral character[.]

Good moral character is honesty, fairness, and respect for the law and the rights of others.
  Intentional concealment of material facts in the conduct of a real estate transaction demonstrates 
a lack of good moral character.
  The MREC could refuse a license to Cruz under § 339.040.1(1) and therefore may discipline him under § 339.100.2(16), RSMo Supp. 2005.  

The MREC also cites § 339.040.1(3), which allows refusal to applicants unless they:
[a]re competent to transact the business of a broker or salesperson in such a manner as to safeguard the interest of the public.
Competence includes a general ability to perform an occupation, 
 and the disposition to do so.
   Cruz’s skills as a real estate salesperson are not at issue.  The issue is the manner in which he conducted such business in regard to the public interest.  That manner clearly shows that he generally lacks the disposition to safeguard the interest of the public.  The MREC could refuse a license to Cruz under § 339.040.1(3) and therefore may discipline him under § 339.100.2(16), RSMo Supp. 2005.  
Summary


We grant the motion and conclude that Cruz is subject to discipline under § 339.100.2(2), (16), and (18).  We cancel the hearing. 


SO ORDERED on July 28, 2006.  


________________________________



JOHN J. KOPP



Commissioner

	�Our Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.440(3)(B) and § 536.073.3, RSMo 2000.  


	�The MREC’s affidavit describes the license as “canceled,” which may mean an inactive salesperson license under Regulation 4 CSR 250-4.050(6).  Under that regulation, Cruz can reactivate the license by making application, paying the appropriate fees, and providing proof of having taken the pre-license course.  


	�Section 339.100.2.  The complaint cites only § 339.100.2, RSMo Supp. 2005, which was not in effect until August 28, 2005.  Sections A and 339.100, H.B. 174, 93rd Gen. Assem., 1st Reg. Sess. (2005 Mo.Laws 366, 367); and Mo. Const. art. III, § 29.  We must apply the substantive law in effect when the events occurred.  Section 1.170, RSMo 2000; Comerio v. Beatrice Foods Co., 595 F.Supp. 918, 920-21 (E.D. Mo., 1984).  The events alleged began in April 2004, but the language of each provision that the MREC applies to each event is unchanged from when the respective event occurred.  For that reason, statutory references are to the 2000 Revised Statutes of Missouri, and the 2001 and 2005 Supplements to that revision, unless otherwise noted.


	�Missouri Real Estate Comm'n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).  


	�The Department of Housing and Urban Development includes the FHA.  42 U.S.C. 3533(b).  


	�Section 490.130, RSMo Supp. 2005.  


	�Section 339.040.1(1).  


	�Section 339.010.2 and .1(1) and (7).  


	�State ex rel. Atkins v. State Bd. of Accountancy, 351 S.W.2d 483, 485 (Mo. App., K.C.D. 1961).


	�Hernandez v. State Bd. of Registration for Healing Arts, 936 S.W.2d 894, 899 n.2 (Mo. App., W.D. 1997).  


	�See In re Duncan, 844 S.W.2d 443, 444 (Mo. banc 1992).


	�In re Frick, 694 S.W.2d 473, 479 (Mo. banc 1985) (quoting In re Wallace, 19 S.W.2d 625 (Mo. banc 1929)).  


	�Chanmouny v. Ashcroft, 376 F.3d 810 (8th Cir. 2004).  


	�Hernandez, 936 S.W.2d at 899 n.3.  


	�WEBSTER'S THIRD NEW INTERNATIONAL DICTIONARY 1392 (unabr. 1986).  


	�This language was numbered as subdivision (15) of § 339.100.2, RSMo 2000.  


	�State ex rel. McAvoy v. Louisiana Bd. of Med. Examiners, 115 So.2d 833, 839 n.2 (La. 1959), and Florida Bd. of Bar Examiners Re:  G.W.L., 364 So.2d 454, 458 (Fla. 1978).  


	�Harris v. Hunt, 122 S.W.3d 683, 688 (Mo. App., E.D. 2003).


	�Section 1.020(8).


	�Johnson v. Missouri Bd. of Nursing Adm'rs, 130 S.W.3d 619, 642 (Mo. App., W.D. 2004).  
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